2010

State of Utah v. Luis Parra Gomez : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

This Court has appellate jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(e).

ISSUE PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether Officer Speeth illegally seized Gomez on reasonable suspicion after Gomez refused to give consent to search his hotel room. The determination of whether an encounter with law enforcement officers constitutes a seizure under the Fourth Amendment is a legal conclusion that is reviewed for correctness. *Salt Lake City v. Ray*, 2000 UT App 55, ¶ 8, 998 P.2d 274.

CONTROLLING STATUTORY PROVISIONS

All controlling statutory provisions are attached hereto in the Addenda.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Luis Parra Gomez appeals from the judgment of the Honorable Lynn W. Davis, Fourth District Court, after the denial of his motion to suppress and his conditional plea to possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute in a drug-free zone, a first degree felony; possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute in a drug-free zone, a third degree felony; and possession of drug paraphernalia in a drug-free zone, a class A misdemeanor.

B. Trial Court Proceedings and Disposition

Luis Parra Gomez was charged by criminal information filed on August 8, 2008 in Fourth District Court with: Count 1 – possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute in a drug-free zone, a first degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)(a)(iii); Count 2 – possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute in a drug-free zone, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)(a)(iii); and Count 3 – possession of drug paraphernalia in a drug-free zone, a class A misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37a-5(1). (R. 2-1.) At a preliminary hearing on February 18, 2009, the District Court found probable cause to bind all three charges over for trial. (R. 34-33.)

On May 26, 2009, Gomez filed a motion to suppress, and on September 23, 2009 Gomez filed an amended the motion to suppress. (R. 58, 99.) Gomez alleged that police officers illegally seized him, and exploited the illegal seizure to obtain Gomez's consent to search his hotel room, where they ultimately found the evidence giving rise to the

charges. (R. 98-77.) Gomez also alleged that his consent was involuntary. (R. 83-81.) The State responded on September 23, 2009. (R. 109-100.) The District Court heard oral argument on December 16, 2009. (R. 115.)

The District Court denied the motion to suppress in a written ruling on January 12, 2010. (R. 128-116.) The Court ruled that the seizure of Gomez was not illegal, and that Gomez's consent to search was voluntary. (R. 128-116.)

On March 10, 2010, Gomez entered conditional pleas of guilty to Count 1 – possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute in a drug-free zone, a first degree felony; Count 2 – possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute in a drug-free zone, a third degree felony; and Count 3 – possession of drug paraphernalia in a drug-free zone, a class A misdemeanor. (R. 143-134.)

On May 12, 2010, Gomez was given suspended sentences of five years to life in prison for possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute in a drug-free zone, a first degree felony, up to five years in prison for possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute in a drug-free zone, a third degree felony, and 365 days in the Utah County Jail for possession of drug paraphernalia in a drug-free zone. (R. 149.) Gomez was ordered to serve 365 days in jail, was placed on probation for 36 months, and was ordered to pay a fine of \$1,024.00 plus interest. (R. 148.)

On June 11, 2010, Gomez filed a Notice of Appeal with the Fourth District Court. (R. 150.)

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

1. At approximately midnight on August 4, 2008, Officer Scott Speeth pulled over a vehicle for a taillight violation at 400 West and University Parkway in Orem. The vehicle had three occupants. (R. 157:6, 10, 26.)
2. While speaking with the driver of the vehicle, Officer Speeth noted that Gomez, one of the passengers, was not wearing a seat belt. (R. 157:6-7.)
3. Officer Speeth conducted record checks on the driver of the vehicle and on Gomez. Officer Speeth discovered that the driver had a suspended license, as well as a criminal history involving narcotics trafficking. (R. 157:7.)
4. Officer Speeth discovered that the vehicle was a rental, and asked the driver where he was going. The driver replied that he was going to Provo. Officer Speeth thought it unusual that the driver would be going to Provo, because the driver was headed eastbound on University Parkway, away from the freeway. (R. 157:7.)
5. Based on the facts he had gathered up to that point, Officer Speeth decided to call for a K-9 unit while he was preparing to cite the driver for driving on a suspended license. Thus far, the vehicle and its passengers had been detained for three to four minutes. (R. 157:7-8, 29.)
6. The K-9 unit arrived within five minutes of Officer Speeth's request. K-9 Officer Trent Colledge and Officer Thomas responded in one vehicle, and K-9 Officer Corporal Lopez responded in another vehicle. (R. 157:8, 33.)
7. At least some of the responding police vehicles' emergency lights flashed for the entirety of the stop. (R. 157:27.)

8. Officer Colledge walked a drug-sniffing dog around the outside of the vehicle. The dog indicated the possible presence of drugs in the vehicle. Officer Colledge informed Officer Speeth of the dog's alert. The dog sniff procedure took approximately five minutes. (R. 157:9, 33.)
9. After the dog alert, Officer Speeth ordered all three occupants to exit the vehicle. Officer Speeth then questioned each occupant individually. (R. 157:10.)
10. Officer Speeth questioned Gomez about where the three occupants were going, and whether they intended to visit any of the hotels in the area. Gomez replied that they were going to Provo, and that they did not intend to visit any hotels in the area. (R. 157:10-11.)
11. Officer Speeth questioned the other two occupants, and they both denied intending to visit any hotels in the area. (R. 157:11, 41.)
12. Officer Speeth, Corporal Lopez, and Officer Colledge then searched the vehicle. Officer Speeth discovered a parking pass on the dashboard belonging to the Comfort Inn, a hotel that was 100 feet from the place where Officer Speeth had stopped the vehicle in which Gomez was a passenger. The parking pass was dated August 3rd through August 4th, and indicated that it was associated with room 109. (R. 157:11-12, 36, 39.)
13. No drugs or other illegal objects were found in the vehicle. (R. 157:35.)
14. None of the vehicle's occupants exhibited signs of drug use. (R. 157:43, 45.)
15. Officer Speeth then called the front desk of the Comfort Inn and asked who was registered for room 109. The attendant replied that the room was registered to Luis P. Gomez. (R. 157:13.) The attendant did not give any information about the room being

registered to either of the other occupants. (R. 157:46.)

16. At this point, the stop had lasted approximately thirty to forty minutes. (R. 157:42.)

17. Officer Speeth then questioned the three vehicle occupants again. He specifically asked Gomez why he had lied about visiting nearby hotels. Gomez replied that the driver of the vehicle was giving Gomez a ride to Gomez's mother's house in Provo. (R. 157:13-14.)

18. Officer Speeth made it clear that all three occupants were being detained. However, Officer Speeth's tone was conversational and he attempted not to be overly accusatory. (R. 157:14.)

19. Officer Speeth searched all three occupants, and did not find any drugs or other illegal items. However, Officer Speeth found \$4,000 cash in the driver's shoes. (R. 157:15, 36.)

20. At this point, based on his specialized training, Officer Speeth believed that the occupants of the vehicle were engaged in drug trafficking, and believed that the hotel room contained drugs. (R. 157:44, 54.)

21. Officer Speeth asked Gomez for consent to search the hotel room. Gomez specifically told Officer Speeth that he did not want to be put in that kind of a position. (R. 157:16.)

22. Officer Speeth did not, at any point, advise Gomez that he had the right to refuse consent or the right to refuse to answer questions. (R. 157:41.)

23. Officer Speeth suspected that Gomez was trying to protect the other passengers,

and that the other passengers might have something incriminating inside the hotel room. Based on that belief, Officer Speeth asked Gomez again for consent to search the hotel room. Gomez's response to this second request was unclear. At the preliminary hearing, Officer Speeth testified: "The gist of my conversation with him was essentially, 'If [the other two passengers] will agree to allow officers into the room, then I'm okay with it.'" (R. 157:16, 46.)

24. Officer Speeth then spoke with the other two occupants, who denied ever having been in the hotel room and denied any claim to anything in the room. (R. 157:16-17.)

25. Officer Speeth then confronted Gomez with this information from the other passengers, and Gomez shrugged his shoulders and agreed to let officers into the hotel room. (R. 157:16-17.)

26. Officer Speeth and another officer, Corporal Lopez, accompanied Gomez to the hotel room. Gomez produced the key and opened the door. (R. 157:17.)

27. Inside the hotel room, the officers discovered digital scales, a measuring spoon, and a large quantity of cocaine and marijuana. (R. 157:18-23.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse the District Court's ruling that denied Gomez's motion to suppress because Officer Speeth illegally detained Gomez after Gomez refused to give consent to search his hotel room, and Officer Speeth exploited the illegal detention to ultimately obtain Gomez's consent.

Officer Speeth illegally detained Gomez after Gomez refused to consent to a search of his hotel room. An officer may not continue a detention on reasonable suspicion if he is unable to quickly confirm or dispel a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. *U.S. v. Sharpe*, 470 U.S. 675, 686 (1985). In this case, Officer Speeth conducted a thorough investigation of suspected drug trafficking activity, which culminated in his request for Gomez's consent to search the hotel room. After Gomez refused consent, the investigation was complete and Gomez could not be detained further on reasonable suspicion. Thus, Officer Speeth's further detention of Gomez after Gomez refused consent was illegal.

Officer Speeth exploited the illegal detention to obtain Gomez's consent to search the hotel room. The factors relevant to exploitation analysis are 1) the purpose and flagrancy of the illegal conduct; 2) the presence of intervening circumstances; and 3) the temporal proximity between the illegality and the consent. *State v. Hansen*, 2002 UT 125, 63 P.3d 650. In this case, these factors weigh in favor of suppression because 1) the purpose of the illegal detention was to obtain Gomez's consent; 2) there were no intervening circumstances which attenuated Gomez's consent from the illegal detention; and 3) the lapse of time between the illegal detention and Gomez's consent was short. Thus, this Court should reverse the District Court's denial of Gomez's motion to suppress.

ARGUMENT

I. OFFICER SPEETH ILLEGALLY DETAINED GOMEZ AFTER GOMEZ REFUSED TO GIVE CONSENT TO SEARCH THE HOTEL ROOM

Officer Speeth illegally detained Gomez after Gomez refused to give consent to search the hotel room. An officer may not continue a detention on reasonable suspicion if he is unable to quickly confirm or dispel a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. *U.S. v. Sharpe*, 470 U.S. 675, 686 (1985).

Gomez concedes that Officer Speeth lawfully stopped the vehicle in which Gomez was a passenger, because Officer Speeth observed a traffic violation committed in his presence, specifically a taillight violation. *See State v. Hansen*, 2002 UT 125, ¶30, 63 P.3d 650, 660. Gomez also concedes that the dog sniff of the vehicle was lawful because it did not unreasonably extend the duration of the stop. *See State v. Wilkinson*, 2008 UT App 395, ¶¶ 7-9, 197 P.3d 96. Gomez further concedes that the dog alert on the vehicle provided probable cause to search the vehicle and reasonably extend the stop. *See Illinois v. Caballes*, 543 U.S. 405, 409 (2005).

However, the probable cause provided by the dog sniff dissipated when the search did not reveal any drugs or other contraband. Thus, Officer Speeth's continued investigation of drug trafficking after the vehicle search was concluded was based, at most, on reasonable suspicion.

An officer may extend a traffic stop when he has a reasonable suspicion of a further illegality. *Hansen*, 2002 UT 125, ¶31. However, even if the officer's reasonable suspicion supports further detention, the scope of the stop is still limited. *State v.*

Shepard, 955 P.2d 352, 355 (Utah App. 1998). The police must diligently pursue a means of investigation that is likely to confirm or dispel their suspicions quickly. *U.S. v. Sharpe*, 470 U.S. 675, 686 (1985).

In this case, after concluding the vehicle search, Officer Speeth diligently pursued a means of investigation that was likely to quickly confirm or dispel his suspicion that Gomez was involved in drug trafficking. Using the information on the parking pass which had been seized during the vehicle search, Officer Speeth called the front desk of the Comfort Inn and learned that Gomez was registered for a hotel room there. (R. 157:13.) He observed that none of the passengers exhibited signs of drug use. (R. 157:43, 45.) He questioned each of the passengers and challenged their prior statements. (R. 157:13-14.) He searched each of the passengers, and did not find any drugs, although he did find \$4,000 cash in the driver's shoe. (R. 157:15, 36.)

At this point, Gomez had been detained at least thirty to forty minutes. (R. 157:42.) The vehicle had been searched, the passengers had been searched, and no drugs or other illegal items had been found. (R. 157:45.) Officer Speeth suspected that there were drugs in the hotel room, but he did not have probable cause to search the hotel room. (R. 157:44.)

Thus, the only remaining investigative option available to Officer Speeth was to request consent to search the hotel room. He did so, and Gomez refused consent. The relevant portions of Officer Speeth's testimony at the suppression hearing regarding his request for consent were as follows:

Q. Okay, what if anything else did you do with respect to that hotel room and Mr. Gomez?

A. At that point nothing. It was basically I took all three individuals and discussed separately –

Q. Uh-huh.

A. – what involvement or what kind of items they had in the hotel room and what their – what their claim to the hotel room would have been.

Q. Okay, let's talk about specifically Mr. Gomez.

A. Specifically Mr. Gomez, as his name was the name that the hotel had on the registration –

Q. Uh-huh.

A. – for the room, I specifically asked him for consent to search the room. I asked him about what would be in the room.

Q. And what did he say?

A. Well, upon asking him that, he – he felt – from his statements and from his – his body language, I could tell that made him really uncomfortable. I mean, he told me specifically that he didn't want to be put in that kind of a position. At that point, with his statements about not wanting to be put in that kind of position, it led me to believe that possibly some of the other occupants had something incriminating inside the hotel room.

Q. Uh-huh.

A. At that point I asked Mr. Gomez again if we could have – you know, if he would consent to us going in there. The gist of my conversation with him was essentially, “If they will agree to allow officers into the room, then I’m okay with it.”

Q. That’s the impression you got from Mr. Gomez?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. How did that all turn out?

A. I spoke with the other two occupants, who each denied ever being in the room and denied having any claim to anything in the room.

Q. Okay.

A. So at that point I came back to Mr. Gomez and said essentially that they had relinquished any claim –

Q. Uh-huh.

A. – and not made any statements about having anything of interest inside the room.

Q. At that point Mr. Gomez pretty much shrugged his shoulders and agreed to let us in.

....

Q. Okay, and then you asked Mr. Gomez if you could search the room, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. You said he wasn’t – he didn’t want to be put in that position?

A. Correct.

Q. Then you said if the other two were okay with it, would he be okay with it?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. Basically, just paraphrasing?

A. Sure.

Q. So did you speak to Reyes and Robles [the driver and the other passenger] about searching the room?

A. I did.

Q. Okay, but their names weren't on the – the Comfort Inn didn't give you any information about other people renting the room, did they?

A. That's correct.

Q. So basically when he said he didn't want to be in that position, that was a – he had told you no, he didn't want you to search the room?

A. I didn't interpret that as a "No." I interpreted that as him not wanting to incriminate his friends. I believe that he was acting out of trying to protect somebody else.

Q. Okay, and why did you come to that conclusion?

A. My – the conclusion that I came to through my investigation is that Reyes was probably the individual that was more involved. Again, these are – these are conclusions that I came to based mainly on criminal histories. Mr. Gomez I believe was actually the younger than Mr. Reyes. Mr. Gomez had nothing substantially criminal that I found as far as his history went.

Q. Okay.

A. Again, a lot of my issues I think Reyes had a lot to do with it. So –

Q. Okay, so let me ask you this. So you knew that Mr. Reyes and Mr. Robles' names weren't registered for that room?

A. That's correct.

Q. Why did you want them to give consent to search the room?

A. To satisfy Mr. Gomez's request.

Q. That was your request, though, right? Wasn't that your request? You said if they would be okay with the room being searched, would he be okay?

A. Correct. I made that offer to him, because I felt that his issues with giving us consent were because he didn't want to incriminate his friends.

(R. 157:15-17, 46-47.)

Officer Speeth's testimony indicates that Gomez initially refused consent.¹ Gomez was then detained further while Officer Speeth questioned the driver and the other passenger about their connection with the hotel room. Gomez was then detained even further so that Officer Speeth could approach him request consent a second time.

After Gomez's initial refusal to give consent, Officer Speeth could not lawfully detain Gomez any longer in order to question the driver and the other passenger or to continue to seek Gomez's consent. Officer Speeth had done all that he could to quickly confirm or dispel his suspicion that Gomez was involved and drug trafficking. No drugs

¹ The State appears to acknowledge in its Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Suppress that Defendant's statement that "he didn't want to be put in that kind of a position" constituted an "initial refusal to give consent." (R. 101.)

had been discovered, and reasonable suspicion could not support further detention. The stop had not de-escalated to a consensual encounter between Gomez and Officer Speeth,² and Officer Speeth did not claim to have probable cause to arrest Gomez.³ Thus, Gomez was illegally seized after he initially refused to consent to a search of the hotel room.⁴

II. OFFICER SPEETH EXPLOITED THE ILLEGAL DETENTION TO OBTAIN GOMEZ'S CONSENT

Officer Speeth exploited the illegal detention to obtain Gomez's consent. The factors relevant to an exploitation analysis are 1) the purpose and flagrancy of the illegal conduct, 2) the presence of intervening circumstances, and 3) the temporal proximity between the illegal conduct and consent. *State v. Hansen*, 2002 UT 125, 63 P.3d 650.

In *Hansen*, a police officer pulled over the defendant's vehicle for an improper lane change. *Id.* at ¶¶ 6-7. After the traffic stop was concluded, the officer asked whether the defendant had any alcohol, drugs, or weapons in the vehicle, even though the

² The State conceded this point in its Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Suppress. (R. 106.)

³ Utah recognizes three levels of reasonable police stops:

- (1) An officer may approach a citizen at any time and pose questions so long as the citizen is not detained against his will;
- (2) An officer may seize a person if the officer has an articulable suspicion that the person has committed or is about to commit a crime; and
- (3) An officer may arrest a suspect if the officer has probable cause to believe an offense has been committed or is being committed.

State v. Martinez, 182 P.2d 385, 387-388 (Utah App. 2008).

⁴ Officer Speeth appears to imply in his testimony that Gomez's initial refusal to consent provided additional reasonable suspicion justifying a further extension of the detention, because Gomez's refusal led Officer Speeth to believe that the driver and the other passenger had drugs in the hotel room. On this point, we note that refusal to consent cannot form any part of the basis for reasonable suspicion. *United States v. Manuel*, 992 F.2d 272, 274 (10th Cir. 1993).

officer had no reason to suspect that any of these items were in the vehicle. *Id.* at ¶ 13. The defendant said “No.” *Id.* The officer then asked for consent to search the vehicle. *Id.* The defendant consented, and the officer subsequently searched the vehicle and found drugs and drug paraphernalia. *Id.* at ¶¶ 13-16.

The defendant argued that the officer had exploited the illegal questioning to obtain the defendant’s consent. *Id.* at ¶ 17. The Utah Supreme Court noted that the relevant factors in exploitation analysis are 1) the purpose and flagrancy of the illegal conduct, 2) the presence of intervening circumstances, and 3) the temporal proximity between the illegal conduct and consent. *Id.* at ¶ 64. The Court held that all three of these factors indicated that the officer exploited the illegal questioning to obtain the defendant’s consent. *Id.* at ¶ 70.

First, the Court noted that the “purpose and flagrancy factor directly relates to the deterrent value of suppression.” *Id.* at ¶ 65 (internal quotation omitted). The deterrent value of suppression is particularly high where the purpose of the officer’s illegal conduct is to exploit the opportunity to ask for consent. *Id.* at ¶ 66. The *Hansen* Court found that the purpose of the officer’s illegal question about the presence of alcohol, drugs, and weapons, was to provide an opportunity to ask for consent, and suppression of the evidence found during the subsequent search would deter future illegal questioning of the same kind. *Id.* at ¶ 67.

Second, the Court noted that intervening circumstances include events such as an officer telling a person that he or she has the right to refuse consent or consult with an attorney. *Id.* at ¶ 68. The Court found no such intervening circumstances. *Id.*

Third, the Court found that the lapse of time between the illegality and the defendant's consent was negligible. *Id.* at ¶ 69. The illegality began, the Court noted, when the officer asked the defendant whether he had any contraband in his vehicle, and consent was obtained immediately after the defendant denied having any contraband. *Id.*

The facts of *Hansen* parallel the facts of this case. First, the purpose of the illegal detention in this case was to provide an additional opportunity for Officer Speeth to request Gomez's consent to search the hotel room. Officer Speeth illegally detained Gomez so that he could question the driver and the other passenger, in an effort to persuade Gomez to give consent to search the hotel room. In this case, as in *Hansen*, suppression of the evidence will deter future illegal detentions of this kind.

Second, there were no intervening circumstances in this case. Officer Speeth did not tell Gomez that he had the right to refuse consent, or that he had the right to consult an attorney. There were no other intervening circumstances that logically separated the illegal detention from Gomez's consent.

Third, the lapse of time between the illegal detention and Gomez's consent was negligible. Gomez's consent was obtained immediately following the illegal detention.

Thus, all three *Hansen* factors indicate that Officer Speeth exploited the illegal detention to obtain Gomez's consent. Because Gomez was illegally seized and his consent to search was obtained by police exploitation of a prior illegality, this Court should reverse the District Court's denial of Gomez's motion to suppress.

CONCLUSION AND PRECISE RELIEF SOUGHT

Gomez asks this Court to reverse the District Court's denial of his motion to suppress because Officer Speeth illegally detained Gomez, and exploited the illegal detention to obtain Gomez's consent to search.