2010

# State of Utah v. Luis Parra Gomez : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant argues that once he refused to give consent to a search of his hotel room, the officers lacked reasonable suspicion to extend his detention for any further investigation. This Court should not reach his claim because he failed to preserve this issue in the trial court and argues neither plain error nor exceptional circumstances on appeal to avoid the preservation rule. His amended suppression motion below presented six claims, all of them involving challenges to various parts of his detention and consent. However, none of his arguments made reference to

the fact that he believed he had initially refused to grant consent to a search of his hotel room or that the refusal had robbed the officers of reasonable suspicion to extend his detention further. Not surprisingly, the trial court's ruling is also devoid of any mention of these points. Because Defendant failed to preserve his claim and makes no reference to an exception to the preservation rule, this Court should decline to review his claim on appeal.

In any event, Defendant's refusal neither added nor detracted from reasonable suspicion, and the officer took reasonable steps to resolve his reluctance and obtain his consent to search.

Defendant also contends that the officers exploited the illegal detention outlined in his first argument in an attempt to obtain his ultimate consent to search his hotel room. As with his first claim, Defendant failed to raise this claim in the trial court and argues no exception to the preservation rule to justify appellate review. Moreover, his failure to establish the illegality of the detention in his first argument prevents him from establishing its exploitation on appeal.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### **THIS COURT SHOULD NOT REACH DEFENDANT'S ILLEGAL DETENTION CLAIM BECAUSE IT WAS NOT PRESERVED AND HE ARGUES NO EXCEPTION TO THE PRESERVATION REQUIREMENT; MOREOVER, DEFENDANT'S REFUSAL DID NOT DISPEL REASONABLE SUSPICION**

Defendant contends that the trial court should have granted his suppression motion because his continued detention was illegal once he refused to give consent to a search of his hotel room. *See* Aplt. Br. at 9-15. At that point, he claims, the officer "had done all that he could to quickly confirm or dispel his suspicion" of drug activity, but without something more, he lacked reasonable suspicion to extend the detention for further investigation. *Id.* at 14-15. Although Defendant agrees that the officer's findings and suspicions provided the necessary reasonable suspicion to ask for consent to search the hotel room, he argues that his initial refusal to consent barred any further detention or investigation by the officers. *Id.* at 10, 14.

This Court should not reach the merits of Defendant's argument because it was not preserved for appellate review, and Defendant fails to assert any exception to the preservation requirement. Moreover, Defendant's reluctance to consent did not dispel reasonable suspicion.



**A. Defendant did not Preserve his Claim and Alleges no Exception to the Preservation Requirement**

Appellate review of Defendant's claim is not warranted because he failed to preserve it in the trial court. "[I]n order to preserve an issue for appeal the issue must be presented to the trial court in such a way that the trial court has an opportunity to rule on that issue." *State v. Featherhat*, 2011 UT App 154, ¶ 21 (quoting *State v. Maese*, 2010 UT App 106, ¶ 13, 236 P.3d 155) (alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted), *cert. denied*, 247 P.3d 774 (2011)); *State v. Diaz-Arevalo*, 2008 UT App 219, ¶ 10, 189 P.3d 85 (stating requirement that issues must be preserved for appeal by presentation to the district court), *cert. denied*, 199 P.3d 970 (2008). This requires a timely and specific objection below. *See State v. Low*, 2008 UT 58, ¶ 17, 192 P.3d 867.

The district court judge recognized that Defendant's amended suppression motion contained six challenges.<sup>1</sup> R. 122-25. First, Defendant challenged the legality of his initial detention. R. 91-92, 124. Second, he argued that once the officers completed searching the car following the canine alert, they lacked reasonable suspicion to continue the investigative detention. R. 88-91, 123-24. Third, he claimed that the officers should have terminated further detention and questioning

---

<sup>1</sup> A copy of Defendant's amendment to his motion to suppress and the supporting memorandum is attached in **Addendum B**.

after the search of the car, and the officers should not have discovered the money in Reyes' shoe. R. 85-88, 124. Fourth, he complained that the prolonged detention constituted a de facto arrest that lacked probable cause. R. 85-83, 123. Fifth, he claimed his ultimate consent was not voluntary. R. 81-83, 122-23. Finally, he argued that the ultimate consent was, in any event, obtained by exploitation of the prior illegality, i.e., detaining the occupants for further questioning after the vehicle search. R. 80-81, 122.

On appeal, Defendant now "concedes that Officer Speeth lawfully stopped the vehicle in which [he] was a passenger." Aplt. Br. at 9. He concedes that "continued investigation of drug trafficking after the vehicle search" was justified by reasonable suspicion. *See id.* He also acknowledges that questioning immediately following the car search was lawful. *See id.* at 10, 14. He concedes that "after concluding the vehicle search, Officer Speeth diligently pursued a means of investigation that was likely to confirm or dispel his suspicion that [he] was involved in drug trafficking" when he "called the front desk of the Comfort Inn," "questioned each of the passengers and challenged their prior statements," and "searched each of the passengers." *Id.* at 10. And on appeal, he has not argued that his consent was involuntary or that his continued detention was a de facto arrest.

*See id.* at 9-17. In short, Defendant has abandoned on appeal all of the challenges he made in his amended motion to suppress.

Defendant now seeks reversal based on a claim never raised or addressed below – that his initial refusal to give consent to search the hotel room brought his lawful detention to an end and rendered any further detention unlawful. *See id.* at 9-15. The proceedings below did not require any evaluation of whether Defendant initially denied the request for consent to search or of what effect his response had on the legality of his continued detention.

Because Defendant's argument was not presented to the trial court but is raised for the first time on appeal, this Court will address it only if plain error or exceptional circumstances are established. *See State v. King*, 2010 UT App 396, ¶ 18, 248 P.3d 984; *State v. Norton*, 2003 UT App 88, ¶ 10, 67 P.3d 1050. Defendant makes neither argument. Consequently, this Court should not address his claim. *See King*, 2010 UT App 396, ¶ 18.

**B. Defendant's Refusal did not, in any Event, Dispel Reasonable Suspicion**

In any event, contrary to Defendant's unpreserved claim, his initial refusal to consent to a search of the hotel room did not dispel reasonable suspicion so as to require termination of the stop. If anything, his refusal to consent to a search would

*add* to reasonable suspicion, suggesting that Defendant had something to hide. Notwithstanding this reasonable inference, courts have generally recognized that a suspect's "constitutionally protected refusal to consent to search is not considered in determining whether [an officer] had reasonable suspicion." *State v. McGinnis*, 608 N.W.2d 605, 610 (Neb. App. 2000); *accord United States v. Santos*, 403 F.3d 1120, 1125 (10th Cir. 2005) (holding that "[a] refusal to consent to a search cannot itself form the basis for reasonable suspicion"). As explained by the Tenth Circuit, "[i]f refusal of consent were a basis for reasonable suspicion, nothing would be left of Fourth Amendment protections. A motorist who consented to a search could be searched; and a motorist who refused consent could be searched, as well." *Santos*, 403 F.3d at 1125.

As noted, Defendant has conceded that "after concluding the vehicle search," Officer Speeth was justified in continuing his investigation into possible drug trafficking – at least up to the point where Defendant initially refused consent. *See* Aplt. Br. at 10. But as discussed, that refusal neither added nor detracted from reasonable suspicion. Accordingly, the refusal neither confirmed nor dispelled the suspicion – it remained unresolved. Sensing that Defendant's refusal was in deference to his companions' privacy concerns, Officer Speeth reasonably took the next step: he asked Defendant if he would consent to the search if it was agreeable

to his companions. R. 157:16, 46. Once the officer obtained their approval, Defendant then consented.

## II.

**THIS COURT SHOULD NOT REACH DEFENDANT'S EXPLOITATION CLAIM BECAUSE IT WAS NOT PRESERVED, HE ARGUES NO EXCEPTION TO THE PRESERVATION REQUIREMENT, AND HE HAS NOT ESTABLISHED THE EXISTENCE OF AN ILLEGAL DETENTION**

Defendant contends that Officer Speeth exploited the allegedly illegal detention in order to obtain Defendant's consent to a search of his hotel room. *See* Aplt. Br. at 15-17. Specifically, he argues that the relevant factors in an exploitation analysis establish that the officer used the illegal detention that occurred following Defendant's refusal to consent to a search of his hotel room to create circumstances that would persuade Defendant to change his mind and consent to the search. *See id.* at 17.

This Court should reject Defendant's claim because it was not preserved for appellate review, and because he has not established that the specific detention was illegal.

**A. Defendant did not Preserve his Claim and Alleges no Exception to the Preservation Requirement**

Defendant's claim is not properly before this Court for review because he failed to preserve it below. He argued below that the officers exploited a different

allegedly illegal detention which commenced immediately upon completion of the vehicle search. R. 88-90.

In contrast, he now claims that the illegal detention exploited by the officers began following his refusal to permit the search of the hotel room. *See Point I, supra*. Because the exploitation analysis presented to this Court differs materially from the exploitation analysis he presented below, the present claim was not preserved, and, absent any claim of either plain error or exceptional circumstances, this Court should decline to address it. *See King*, 2010 UT App 396, ¶18.

**B. Review is not Warranted Absent Proof that the Challenged Detention was Illegal**

Moreover, Defendant cannot establish that the officers exploited an illegal detention because, as explained *supra* at 10-12, he fails to establish that the illegal detention existed. *See, e.g., State v. Hansen*, 2002 UT 125, ¶¶ 27-46, 61-70, 63 P.3d 650 (establishing the existence of an illegal detention before undertaking an exploitation analysis to determine whether police exploited the illegality in order to obtain consent).<sup>2</sup> Consequently, Defendant's exploitation claim fails at the outset.

---